FILE COPY

DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

INTHE

JL 22 2019

Docket No. 19-0394

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KANAWHA COUNTY

BURGESS AND NIPLE, INC., An Ohio corporation, Defendant Below, Petitioner

V.

J.F. ALLEN CORPORATION, a West Virginia corporation, *Plaintiff Below, Respondent.*

BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER, BURGESS AND NIPLE, INC.

Peter T. DeMasters (WV State Bar #7153) Michael A. Secret (WV State Bar #13044) FLAHERTY SENSABAUGH BONASSO, PLLC 48 Donley Street, Suite 501 Morgantown, WV 26501 Telephone: (304) 598-0788

Facsimile: (304) 598-0790 msecret@flahertylegal.com pdemasters@flahertylegal.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 1: The lower court erred in failing to find that B&N was not liable for any of JFA's damages in this case absent evidence of bad faith in B&N's role as interpreter and judge of the claims and contract.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 2: The lower court erred in failing to give an intervening cause instruction to the jury in the trial of this matter.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 3: The lower court erred in allowing JFA's expert report from Mr. Willoughby into evidence.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 4: The lower court erred in allowing expert testimony to be proffered from JFA expert Charles Dutill, who is not a licensed engineer in the State of West Virginia.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 5: The lower court erred in allowing JFA's counsel to make certain statements regarding B&N's case in its closing argument.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 6: The lower court erred in ordering a new trial on damages only in following the jury's inconsistent damages verdict, realizing that liability would have to be tried again also.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 7: The lower court erred in separating the issue of liability from the issue of damages after the jury returned its inconsistent damages verdict against the weight of the evidence presented.

STATEMENT OF CASE

This case arises from the relationship between JF Allen Corporation (hereinafter "JFA") and the Sanitary Board for the City of Charleston, West Virginia (hereinafter "CSB") and Burgess & Niple, Inc. (hereinafter "B&N").

a. Project at Issue and Actions Leading to Lawsuit.

In 2011, CSB was in the process of accepting bids on a sewer system upgrade in the Sugar Creek Drive area of Charleston, West Virginia (hereinafter "the Project"). (J.A. 3367-72). JFA was deemed the lowest responsible bidder and, shortly thereafter, it entered into a contract with CSB to serve as the contractor for the Project. (J.A. 3473-3487). CSB had previously entered into a contract with B&N to act as the project engineer and provide professional design administration services. (J.A. 4550-58). JFA and B&N never entered into a contractual relationship with each other. Prior to making its bid, JFA had in hand of the proposed contract documents and the location of the Project. (J.A. 3365-4082).

Prior to submitting its bid, JFA visited the Project site and became familiar with the location. (J.A. 1553). JFA was informed by the Project drawings and by its site visits that approximately 250 homes were served by underground water, sewer, and other underground utilities and that the Project included a narrow roadway and creek bed where some of these utilities were located. (J.A. 1857-58). As the project engineer, B&N was not responsible for the accuracy or completeness of the information regarding underground utilities and JFA was to include the cost of locating utilities through the utility companies and repairing damage resulting from the

work, if any, in its total contract price. (J.A. 1858-61; J.A. 3537). Furthermore, JFA was responsible for using due diligence to avoid damaging existing utilities whether shown on the plans provided to it or not. (J.A. 3537-38). During its work on the project, JFA had some strikes on underground utilities that allegedly caused delays. (J.A. 4258-4404). At least 48 hours prior to beginning work in a particular area, it was JFA's responsibility to contact Miss Utility, a utility location service, in order to locate all utility lines so that they would not be disturbed during work. (J.A. 1641-43). That was JFA's obligation and not B&N's obligation. *Id.* While B&N was generally aware that JFA was sometimes striking underground utilities, B&N was not made aware that JFA felt that these strikes were causing significant delays to the Project. (J.A. 4715-4877). In fact, many during monthly meetings, JFA reported "no delays" on the project. (J.A. 4876-77). Up until a few months prior to the original completion date for the Project, JFA represented that it would complete the project on time. (J.A. 1706-07).

JFA began work on or about January 25, 2012. (J.A. 1905). Substantial completion of the project occurred after change orders on June 19, 2013, and with the Final Pay Application being submitted by JFA on or about November 5, 2013. (J.A. 4671-77). CSB issued final payment to JFA on November 20, 2013. (J.A. 4681-87). As the project neared its completion towards November of 2012, B&N advised JFA to submit any claims that it may have for payment "as soon as possible" and in accordance with the EJCDC General Conditions further explained below. (J.A. 4856). When JFA did submit its Final Pay Application, it did not include any outstanding Claims that may have been incurred on the Project. (J.A. 4671-77). B&N recommended approval of JFA's Final Pay Application. (J.A. 4681-87). With the recommended approval of the Final Pay Application, the Construction Phase of the Project concluded and so did B&N's obligations in relation to the contract between CSB and JFA. (J.A. 4594).

Seven months after B&N's services on the Project had terminated, JFA submitted its "Request for Equitable Adjustment" (hereinafter "REA") to B&N on May 5, 2014. (J.A. 4084-4108). This correspondence threatened to hold B&N "and [its] professional liability carrier liable for any professional negligence that leads to damages to J.F. Allen." (J.A. 4084). The REA even specifically asked B&N to act in "accord with [B&N's] contractual obligation" in recommending payment to JFA, even though B&N's "contractual obligation" had ended seven months prior with the conclusion of the Construction Phase. *Id.* Even at the time of the REA, JFA was attempting to remove its responsibility for its untimely Claims submissions and place the blame on B&N.

The REA sought an additional \$1,309,943.00 as a result of work done on the Project and concluded with a statement that the REA was to be considered a "Claim" pursuant to the contracts in play during the Project. (J.A. 4108). JFA did not submit any written Claims relating to the issues contained in the REA within thirty days of the occurrences, nor did it submit substantiation regarding its alleged costs or delays within sixty days of the occurrences as required by the governing contract. (J.A. 1783-84). On May 12, 2014, B&N returned the REA to JFA without review, explained via letter that its services to CSB were over and that B&N was no longer authorized to provide professional services related to Claims. JFA then filed suit against CSB, alleging breach of contract and unjust enrichment, and alleging professional negligence against B&N. (J.A. 0006-14).

b. Obligations of Parties Under the EJCDC General Conditions and Other Contracts.

There are two contracts which contain provisions that have an impact on this matter. First, there is the contract between the CSB and JFA (hereinafter "Contractor Agreement"). Second,

¹ JFA's claims against the CSB were originally dismissed, but the matter was brought before this Court on appeal wherein this Court gave CSB the partial relief of upholding the dismissal of JFA's unjust enrichment claim only.

there is the contract between the CSB and B&N (hereinafter "Engineer Agreement"). While JFA has asserted a negligence action and not a contract action against B&N, the duties that B&N had to JFA are set forth in these two contracts. JFA's President, Gregory Hadjis (hereinafter "Mr. Hadjis"), admitted at trial that he did not actually read the contract his company signed and was working under, but instead relied on his "team" to review it. (J.A. 1559). All of his "team" that testified at trial stated that they never read the Contractor Agreement either. (J.A. 2387-88; J.A. 2462). Therefore, all executives at this company were working under a contract they claim they never read. *Id*.

i. Contractor Agreement and EJCDC General Conditions.

The Contractor Agreement was governed by the Standard General Conditions of the Construction Contract prepared by the Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee (hereinafter "EJCDC General Conditions"). (J.A. 3519). Specifically, Articles 9 and 10 of the Contractor Agreement the sets forth B&N's duties as project engineer to the CSB and JFA during the Construction Phase of the Project. (J.A. 3561-66). Section 9.01 of this Article states that B&N's authority to act as the CSB's representative was limited to the time "during the construction period." (J.A. 3561). In performing its function, B&N had to be impartial, and "shall not be liable in connection with any decision rendered in good faith in such capacity." (J.A. 3563) (emphasis added). Specifically, Section 9.09A states as follows:

Neither Engineer's authority or responsibility under this Article 9 or under any other provision of the Contract Documents *nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith* either to exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or performance of any authority or responsibility by Engineer shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in contact, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee or agent or any of them.

(J.A. 3563-64) (emphasis added).

A "Claim" under the EJCDC General Conditions is defined as "[a] demand or assertion by Owner [CSB] or Contractor [JFA] seeking an adjustment of Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract." (J.A. 3525). The process for the adjudication of Claims is laid out in Article 10 of the EJCDC General Conditions, where "[a]ll Claims, except those waived pursuant to Paragraph 14.09, shall be referred to the Engineer [B&N] for decision. A decision by Engineer [B&N] shall be required as a condition precedent to any exercise by Owner [CSB] or Contractor [JFA] of any rights or remedies either may otherwise have under the Contract Documents or by Laws and Regulations in respect of such Claims." (J.A. 3565). Upon receiving a duly submitted Claim, B&N as the engineer on the Project would review said Claim and render a decision within thirty days of the its receipt of the Claim. (J.A. 3565-66). In short, the party requesting a Claim relating to the Project must submit its Claim request to B&N pursuant to the EJCDC General Conditions if said party wishes to see their change instituted. *Id*.

Paragraph 7.01(A)(2) states that "[i]f Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on . . . such adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, Owner or Contractor may make a Claim therefor as provided in Paragraph 10.05." (J.A. 3559). Paragraph 10.05(A) states that "All Claims must be referred to [B&N] for decision" and that "[a] decision by [B&N] shall be required as a condition precedent to any exercise by Owner or Contractor of any rights or remedies either may otherwise have under the Contract Documents or by Laws and Regulations. . . ." (J.A. 3565). Paragraph 10.05(B) mandates that "[w]ritten notice of said Claims must be submitted within thirty (30) days of the event giving rise to the Claims." (J.A. 3565-66). The responsibility to initiate a Claim rests with the party making the Claim, not B&N who was acting in a neutral capacity. *Id*.

Once a Claim was submitted in writing and substantiated within the appropriate time period, B&N would have thirty (30) days to review the Claim. *Id*. However, pursuant to Paragraph

10.05(D), "[i]n the event that Engineer does not take action on a Claim within said 30 days, the Claim shall be deemed denied." (J.A. 3566). This denial would be final and binding unless the claimant requests mediation or gives written notice of its intent to file a suit within thirty (30) days of the denial. *Id.* Importantly, the EJCDC General Conditions clearly states that "[n]o Claim for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times will be valid *if not submitted in accordance with this Paragraph 10.05.*" *Id.* (emphasis added).

Article 14 of the Contract Agreement provides for the terms of JFA's "Final Payment." Once all work on the Project was completed, JFA was to submit its final application for payment. (J.A. 3576). With this application, JFA was required to provide, among other things, "a list of all Claims against Owner that Contractor believes are unsettled." (J.A. 3581). Section 14.09(A)(2) states that "[t]he making and acceptance of final payment will constitute . . . a waiver of all Claims by Contractor against Owner other than those previously made in accordance with the requirements herein and expressly acknowledged by Owner in writing as still unsettled." (J.A. 3582). As stated above, JFA's Final Application for Payment did not include any Claims it considered unsettled and JFA requested its final payment without mention of any unsettled Claims, therefore, said alleged "outstanding" Claims are waived. (J.A. 4671-77). JFA still holds the uncashed check that it received from the Project. (J.A. 4257). JFA claims that because it has yet to cash the check for final payment, despite the fact that it was made in the amount requested by JFA and delivered to JFA in the method that JFA requested, that it has not "accepted" its final payment and any "Claims" submitted by JFA remain open. (J.A. 1804). However, as we have seen, there are no Claims to be made.

ii. Engineer Agreement and EJCDC Standard Form.

The Engineer Agreement was governed by the Standard Form Agreement Between Owner and Engineer for Professional Services prepared by Engineers Joint Contract Documents Committee (hereinafter "EJCDC Standard Form"). While the EJCDC Standard Form did not contain the exact same language as the EJCDC General Conditions, they were prepared to be used together. (J.A. 4576). In fact, "[t]heir provisions are interrelated, and a change in one may necessitate a change in the other." *Id*.

Pursuant to Paragraph A1.05(B) of the EJCDC Standard Form, the duration of B&N's duties during the Construction Phase terminated "upon written recommendation by Engineer for final payment to Contractors." (J.A. 4594). Paragraph A2.01(A)(16) states that B&N cannot provide "Construction Phase services beyond the original date for final completion of the Work" absent written authorization from the CSB. (J.A. 4596). While B&N also contracted with CSB to provide Resident Project Representative services to this Project, Paragraph D1.01(D)(2) stated that B&N's role as Resident Project Representative shall not "[e]xceed limitations of Engineer's authority as set forth in the Agreement and Contract Documents." (J.A. 4618).

Regarding JFA's supposedly outstanding "Claims" in the REA, Paragraph 7.01(A)(3) notes that that said change proposal to the Construction Contract price must be duly submitted in accordance with the Construction Contract and the EJCDC General Conditions listed above. (J.A. 4584). Similar to the language present in the EJCDC General Conditions, Paragraph 1.05(A)(14) of the EJCDC Standard Form states as follows:

Disagreements between Owner and Contractor. Render formal written decisions on all duly submitted issues relating to the acceptability of Contractor's work or the interpretation of the requirements of the Contract Documents pertaining to the execution, performance, or progress of Contractor's Work; review each duly submitted Claim by Owner or Contractor, and in writing either deny such Claim I whole or in part, approve such Claims, or decline to resolve such Claim if Engineer

in its discretion concludes that to do so would be inappropriate. In rending such decisions, Engineer shall be fair and not show partiality to Owner or Contractor and shall not be liable in connection with any decision *rendered in good faith in such capacity*.

(J.A. 4593) (emphasis added).

c. Trial of This Matter and Post-Trial Proceedings

Both JFA's actions against B&N and CSB were tried together during a single trial between January 22, 2018 and January 31, 2018. (J.A. 1432-3312). Mr. Hadjis testified that there were several instances during he Project that would necessitate a Claim be instituted for a change in contract price, but the admits that he felt like he "didn't have to" submit a claim in writing pursuant to the Contractor Agreement because B&N "had actual notice, and made a report of the situation themselves." (J.A. 1656). Instead, JFA waited until seven months after the Construction Phase of the Project ended, and submitted an REA. (J.A. 1880). JFA further admits that the REA is not titled "Claim" and that it does not meet the definition of a Claim under the EJCDC General Conditions. (J.A. 1767). Regarding final payment made in this matter, Mr. Hadjis testified as follows:

- Q. Okay. If you look at Exhibit 9, that's a pay application; is it not?
- A. Yes, it is.
- Q. And up at the top it says, "Contractor's progress estimate final." Is that right?
- A. Yes, it does.
- Q. And that reflects what you believe is the final payment due because of balancing change orders; is that right?
- A. What it reflects is the payment for the quantities that were put in. It doesn't reflect the claim that I had forthcoming.
- Q. And I understand that, but where's your written notification of claim?
- A. I have already addressed that.

Q. You don't have a written notification of claim; do you?

A. No, I do not.

(J.A. 1774-75). Furthermore, Mr. Hadjis testified that he never submitted a request to either B&N or CSB for more time to substantiate a Claim and that it was not familiar with the Claims process. (J.A. 1767). JFA submitted six (6) claims during the Project, but when its original project manager left, it never submitted another claim even though B&N told JFA that it should. (J.A. 2305-07).

On the seventh day of trial, B&N proffered to the lower court its Jury Instruction for intervening cause. (J.A. 3119-20). The intervening cause as argued by B&N was JFA's own failure to submit its Claims to B&N before the conclusion of the Construction Phase and in accordance with the Contractor Agreement. *Id.* After hearing the arguments from counsel, the lower court ruled that it was "an appropriate instruction based on the evidence" and that it would allow said instruction to the jury over the objections of JFA's counsel. *Id.* However, on the eighth day of trial, the lower court ruled that it would not allow the intervening cause instruction because it did not see JFA's submission of a Final Pay Application as a negligent act. (J.A. 3143-44).

In closing arguments, JFA's counsel specifically asked the jury to "award this money" to JFA. Counsel also stated that '[t]he damages are the same that we assert against both entities . . . so of this [the REA] amount, you've got to decide how much you want to put against the Sanitary Board and what you want to put against Burgess and Niple." (J.A. 3298). Later, he stated that the jury should put "hopefully the rest of the money on which you put for Burgess and Niple." (J.A. 3298).

The jury received clear and consistent instructions on the subject of damages. First, Part Six "Damages" of the Court's jury charge stated "[y]ou should only award the plaintiff such sum as compensatory damages as will reasonably and fairly compensate for the injuries that have been

proven by a preponderance of the evidence to have actually suffered as a result of the actions of defendant, if any." (J.A. 3200). This same section also instructed the jury not to award compensatory damages based on speculation or sympathy and stated that any assessment of compensatory damages must be based only upon the evidence presented at trial. (J.A. 3201).

Additionally, CSB's Jury Instruction No. 12 stated that the damages must be "reasonable." (J.A. 0713). CSB's Jury Instruction No. 14 provided that "you should be careful to ensure that your award in respect to any one item is not also the subject of an award in an overlapping item, because double recovery of damages is not permitted. Therefore, if you find that [JFA] is entitled to recover damages, you may only award damages that will provide it with a single recovery." (J.A. 0714). JFA's Jury Instruction No. 12A stated that "[t]he purpose of awarding damages to [JFA] is to compensate it for all losses resulting from the negligence and breach of duties by [B&N]." (J.A. 0971-72).

JFA even provided a specific calculation of its alleged damages in this case in the amount of \$1,252,392.43. That number was quantified by JFA's expert Bryon Willoughby (hereinafter "Mr. Willoughby") who prepared the REA. (J.A. 2005). In fact, Mr. Hadjis specifically could not calculate the actual damages amount without the assistance of a retained expert. (J.A. 1621-22). That is the entirety of the evidence that JFA presented regarding its actual damages in this matter. During its closing argument, JFA's attorney even told the jury that \$1,252,392.43 was "the number" to be used when assessing the damages to JFA and was told to divide this number specifically, and no other number, between B&N and CSB. (J.A. 3227).

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