DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET No. 19-0394

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

Having received actual notice of underground facilities that were "not shown or indicated" Burgess & Niple had a duty to promptly review the situation and to make a determination as to whether a change was required and, if so, cause a change order adjusting the contract times or price to be issued. So, Burgess & Niple had an affirmative duty to review and address those situations where J.F. Allen's work was affected by an underground facility that was "not shown or indicated" on the plans. It also had a duty to fairly and equitably manage the construction of the project generally and to investigate and identify changes with respect to all matters as to which it had notice.²² Its failure to provide these services constitutes a breach of the applicable standard of care owed to J.F. Allen as the contractor relying on it to perform this function.

In addition, Burgess & Niple had a duty to render decisions on all claims reported by either the Contractor or Owner. In performing this function, Burgess & Niple had a duty to the parties including, J.F. Allen, to address those claims in an impartial manner. "When functioning as interpreter and judge under this Paragraph 9.08, Engineer will not show a partiality to Owner or Contractor and will not be liable in connection with any interpretation or decision rendered in good faith in such capacity."²³ After completion of the work, when the impact of delays and extra work could be analyzed and quantified, J.F. Allen submitted its claim for equitable adjustment to

See, Footnotes 4 and 15.
 Jt. Appendix pp. 1999, 2002-2003, 2013-2017.
 General Conditions ¶ 9.08D, Jt. Appendix p. 3563

Burgess & Niple for review and action in its role as impartial arbiter. Rather than review the merits of the claim in an impartial and good faith manner, Burgess & Niple summarily refused to address the claim and returned it to J.F. Allen without decision. In defense of its failure to perform its function as impartial arbiter, Burgess & Niple argues that its services were completed once final payment was made. However, the Contract provides that final payment acts as a bar to claims upon the issuance "and acceptance" of final payment. The Sanitary Board did issue final payment but that payment was not accepted, cashed or deposited by J.F. Allen.

The claims asserted in J.F. Allen's Request for Equitable Adjustment were issues that arose and as to which Burgess & Niple had notice during construction of the Project. It was only after completion of the work that J.F. Allen was in a position to quantify the losses it incurred as a result of the many delays incurred and the extra work required during construction of the Project. But it was not only those claims set out in J.F. Allen's Request for Equitable Adjustment as to which Burgess & Niple owed duties to J.F. Allen. Burgess & Niple owed a duty to address all of those matters as to which it had notice, written or actual, during the performance of the work and owed a continuing duty to investigate and address those matters. The evidence in the form of the unrefuted expert testimony of Charles Dutill, showed that Burgess & Niple's failure to do so constitutes a failure to adhere to the standard of care applicable to engineers in similar circumstances.

II. THERE IS NO INTERVENING CAUSE WHICH WOULD PREVENT BURGESS & NIPLE'S LIABILITY FOR ITS NEGLIGENCE IN THIS MATTER.

In support of its appeal, Burgess & Niple argues that its negligence is not the proximate cause of any loss sustained by J.F. Allen. Rather, it argues that it was J.F. Allen's own failure to adhere to the strict requirements of its contract with The Sanitary Board that was the proximate cause of its loss. This argument is not well founded for two of reasons.

First, any obligation on the part of J.F. Allen to adhere to the requirements of the change order and claims procedures set out in its contract with The Sanitary Board is, by definition, a contract issue between J.F. Allen and The Sanitary Board. In the absence of waiver, other adequate

notice, or amendment by subsequent agreement, all of which were present in this case, a failure to strictly adhere to the terms of a contract would be addressed as a question of breach of contract with reference to the relative rights and obligations of the parties to that contract.

Here, there is no contract between J.F. Allen and Burgess & Niple and the rights and duties of the parties are governed by the common law of negligence. While a victim of negligence may be found to be contributorily negligent, that negligence does not work to avoid the negligence of the tortfeasor unless the degree of negligence assigned to the claim exceeds that of the tortfeasor. While the jury in this case did find that J.F. Allen was ten percent contributorily negligent, this does not avoid Burgess & Niple liability but only serves as an offset. As such, the verdict rendered against Burgess & Niple would be reduced by ten percent to reflect the percentage of negligence assigned to J.F. Allen by the jury.

Second, J.F. Allen presented substantial evidence of waiver by The Sanitary Board of its right to require strict adherence to the change orders and claims procedures set out in its contract with J.F. Allen. Evidence was also presented as to the actual notice and knowledge of both The Sanitary Board and Burgess & Niple of the matters set out in J.F. Allen's claim and its intent to present those claims at the completion of the work. This being the case, any failure by J.F. Allen to submit its claim in strict adherence with the change orders and claims protocol set out in the contract was not improper and did not constitute a breach of its obligations under that contract and certainly would not constitute intervening negligence. It follows, then, that such a failure would not have prevented its claim against either The Sanitary Board or Burgess & Niple. A failure to adhere to a requirement of the contract which had been waived or excused would not constitute negligence that could be the proximate cause of any loss. In any case, J.F. Allen's negligence claim against Burgess & Niple is not based on any contract that would require any particular form of notice.

III. <u>IT WAS NOT IMPROPER TO ALLOW J.F. ALLEN'S REQUEST FOR EQUITABLE ADJUSTMENT INTO EVIDENCE.</u>

As anticipated by the parties during the course of the work, J.F. Allen prepared its claim for contract damages for submission to The Sanitary Board, through its project representative, Burgess & Niple, after the work was completed and its loss could be quantified. Because of the unique complexities in the calculation of losses relating to a delay-type claim, J.F. Allen hired a consultant, Bryan Willoughby, to assist with the calculation of extra work and lost efficiency costs in the preparation of its claim for contract damages. Greg Hadjis testified that he worked with Mr. Willoughby in the preparation of J.F. Allen's claim which was, ultimately, submitted to The Sanitary Board through its project representative, Burgess & Niple.²⁴ As such, the Request for Equitable Adjustment is a project document submitted for the purpose of requesting a change in the contract amount just like the series of other requests for changes submitted during the course of the work which were likewise admitted as evidence in this case. This record consists of a report or compilation concerning events and conditions on the project prepared soon after the completion of the work by or with the assistance of those with knowledge in the regular course of J.F. Allen's business and qualifies as a business record admissible under Rule 803(6) of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence.

A trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence at the trial of an action in the exercise of its discretion will not be disturbed by an appellate court unless it appears that the trial court's action amounts to an abuse of discretion. *State v. Whitaker*, 221 W.Va. 117, 650 S.E2d 216 (2007). "The West Virginia Rules of Evidence and the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure allocate significant discretion to the trial court in making evidentiary and procedural rulings. Thus, rulings on the admissibility of evidence and the appropriateness of a particular sanction for discovery violations are committed to the discretion of the trial court. Absent a few exceptions, this Court will review evidentiary and procedural rulings of the circuit court under an abuse of discretion standard." Syl. pt. 5, *Lacy v. CSX Transport, Inc.*, 205 W.Va. 630, 520 S.E.2d 418 (1999), quoting

²⁴ Joint Appendix pp. 1754-1756.

Syl. pt. 1, *McDougal v. McCammon*, 193 W.Va. 229, 455 S.E.2d 788 (1995). Here, the Trial Court reviewed the evidence and the circumstances of its creation, determined it to be trustworthy, and exercised her discretion to admit it into evidence. For these reasons the admission of J.F. Allen's Request for Equitable Adjustment was not barred by the hearsay rule and was properly admitted into evidence.

IV. CHARLES DUTILL WAS PROPERLY QUALIFIED AS AN EXPERT CONCERNING THE STANDARD OF CARE FOR A PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER.

Burgess & Niple also again argues that J.F. Allen's standard of care expert regarding professional engineering, Charles Dutill, should not have been qualified to give opinion testimony as an expert witness because he is not registered or licensed to practice engineering in the State of West Virginia. This argument, likewise, is not supported by the law of this state. Burgess & Niple's argument is based on language of West Virginia Code Chapter 30, Article 13 which regulates the practice and registration of engineers in West Virginia. That Chapter of the Code does not, however, concern the qualification of an engineer to testify as an expert witness at trial. The requirements for qualification as an expert witness are set out in the West Virginia Rules of Evidence at Rule 702.

Rule 702 states, "If scientific, technical or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or determine a fact and issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise." Rule 702 requires that, 1) the witness must be an expert; 2) the expert must testify to scientific, technical or specialized knowledge; and 3) the expert testimony must assist the trier of fact. This rule is also well recognized by the Supreme Court of Appeals. See, Syl. Pt. 3, Ventura v. Winegardner, 178 W. Va. 82, 357 S. E. 2d 764 (1987); Syl. Pt. 1, Cargill v. Balloon Works, Inc., 185 W. Va. 142, 405 S. E. 2d 642 (1991). As recognized by the Court at the trial of this action, Mr. Dutill meets all three of these requirements and was, therefore, qualified to testify regarding

his opinions at the trial of this case. There is no requirement in Rule 702 that an expert be registered in West Virginia to be qualified to give expert testimony in this state.

In Cargill v. Balloon Works, Inc., supra, the plaintiff sought to present the testimony of an expert regarding balloon flight, repair, maintenance, operation, training, inspection, and safety. The offered expert was not a licensed aeronautical engineer and did not have a degree in aeronautical engineering or any other field of engineering. He also did not possess expertise regarding balloon design. Nevertheless, the Supreme Court of Appeals found that he should have been allowed to testify about the cause of a hot air balloon crash that resulted in the death of its occupants. The expert's knowledge of ballooning was sufficient for the Supreme Court of Appeals to conclude that his testimony would have been helpful to the jury's understanding of the issues involved in the case. The Court said, "[W]here the evidence demonstrates as in the present case that the individual sought to be introduced as an expert witness is qualified by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education as an expert and that the individual's specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact, it is an abuse of the trial court's discretion to refuse to qualify that individual as an expert." Cargill v. Balloon Works, Inc., Id. at 646. In Cargill, the Supreme Court of Appeals found that the trial court had, in fact, abused its discretion by failing to qualify the plaintiff's expert despite his lack of engineering or design degree. Id.

Courts in other states have dealt specifically with the issue of whether an engineer could testify as an expert witness despite not being registered or licensed within the state where the testimony is to be given. In *Baggerly v. CSX Transportation, Inc.*, 370 S. C. 362, 635 S. E. 2d 97 (2006), the Supreme Court of South Carolina addressed the same argument as that posed by Burgess & Niple in this case. In addition, the engineering licensing statute in South Carolina was nearly identical to the language of West Virginia's Code, except for the fact that South Carolina's statute added the phrase "expert technical testimony" in its definition of what constitutes the practice of engineering, as ours does not. Even so, in that case the court found that the South Carolina Legislature could not have reasonably intended to prevent out-of-state engineers from giving testimony in a court of law. It found that the statute was intended to protect the citizens of

South Carolina seeking traditional professional engineering services, not to prevent otherwise qualified witnesses from assisting a jury in a civil trial.

The court in *Baggerly* also recognized that such a rule would "clearly contravene" South Carolina's Evidentiary Rule 702, which also contains language similar to West Virginia's Rule 702, and held that South Carolina's engineer licensing statute did not preclude an out-of-state professional engineering expert from testifying in the case. Id. Courts in New York Rhode Island, and Alabama have reached similar conclusions. <u>See</u>, *Pember v. Carlson*, 845 N. Y. S. 2d 566, 45 A. D. 3d 1092 (2007) ("The fact that he had never obtained an engineering license in this state does not preclude him as an expert if he otherwise establishes adequate qualifications, but instead goes to the weight of the evidence."); *Owens v. Payless Cashways, Inc.*, 670 A. 2d 1240 (1996) ("We find no language in Chapter 8 of Title 5 mandating registration as a prerequisite to expert witness qualification. Rule 702 would in any event trump any statutorily implied mandate.") *Federal Mogul Corporation v. Universal Construction Company*, 376 S. 2d 716 (1979).

It should also be noted that with respect to other professions it is common to allow professionals licensed in other states to give testimony as an expert witness in West Virginia. For example, nearly every medical malpractice trial involves the presentation of medical testimony from expert witnesses who are not licensed in West Virginia. In fact, the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act, Code Section 55-7B-7, addressing the testimony of expert witnesses on standard of care in medical malpractice cases, specifically provides that an expert witness may be qualified who has a license to practice medicine in any state, not just West Virginia.

Mr. Dutill has over 38 years in experience performing engineering services across the country. He has a Bachelor of Science in civil and environmental engineering from Cornell University and was certainly qualified to assist the jury in this case. At best, Burgess & Niple's argument that Mr. Dutill should be licensed in West Virginia goes to the weight of his testimony, not its admissibility. The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has said that "disputes as to the strength of an expert's credentials, mere differences in methodology, or lack of textual authority for the opinion go to weight and not the admissibility of their testimony." *Gentry v.*

Mangum, 195 W. Va. 512, at 527, 466 S. E. 2d 171, at 186 (1995). For all these reasons, the Court properly concluded at the trial of this action that Mr. Dutill was qualified to give testimony as an expert witness notwithstanding the fact that he is not registered as an engineer in the State of West Virginia.

V. COUNSEL'S COMMENTS IN CLOSING ARGUMENT CONCERNING BURGESS & NIPLE'S LACK OF AN EXPERT WITNESS WAS NOT IMPROPER AND, IN ANY CASE, ANY OBJECTION WAS WAIVED.

Burgess & Niple also argues that comments by J.F. Allen's counsel during his closing argument to the effect that Burgess & Niple had not offered expert testimony regarding the standard of care or Burgess & Niple's performance of its duties owed to J.F. Allen was improper. The purpose of this argument was to emphasize the fact that the only testimony that the jury had heard in the case regarding a professional engineer's standard of care and whether Burgess & Niple's performance met that standard was offered by J.F. Allen's expert witness, Charles Dutill. Burgess & Niple chose not to offer expert testimony on those issues, and it was not improper for the Plaintiff to make that point to the jury.

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